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CHAPTER XI

THE TERRITORIES OF THE COMMONWEALTH.
GENERAL.

The Territories under the control of the Commonwealth are: The Northern
Territory ; the Australian Capital Territory; Papua (formerly British New Guinea);
Norfolk Island ; the Territory of New Guinea (by Mandate of the League of Nations);
Nauru (under joint Mandate of the Commonwealth, Great Britain and New Zealand);
the Territory of Ashmore and Cartier Islands; and the Australian Antarctic Territory.

The results of the census of the Territories at the 30th June, 1933, may be found
in the separate Census bulletins and parts published by this Bureau.

In each of the external Territories Australian currency is used. In the Territory
of New Guinea, however, Australian coins are being replaced by local coins consisting
of silver shillings, cupro-nickel sixpences and threepences, and bronze pennies.

THE NORTHERN TERRITORY.

§ 1. Area and Pcpulation.

1. Introductory.—Upon the extension of New South Wales westward to the 129th
meridian in 1825, the Northern Territory was incorporated in that colony, but in 1863
was annexed by Royal Letters Patent to the province of South Australia. With the
adjacent islands it was transferred to the Commonwealth on 1st January, 1911. The
total area is 523,620 square miles, or 335,116,800 acres.

2. Population.—(i) Europeans. At the census taken in 1881 there were only 670
Europeans in the Territory. The number increased slowly, reaching its maximum in 1918
with 3,767 persons. At the census of 1933 the white population had decreased to 3,306,
This number, however, was 34.5 per cent. greater than the figure at the census of 1921,

(ii) Non-Europeans. The number of full-blood non-Europeans, excluding
Auvstralian aboriginals, in the Northern Territory on the 3oth June, 1933, was 744, of
whom 462 were Chinese, the remainder being mainly Filipinos (69), Japanese (91},
and Malays (59). There were at one time over 4,000 Chinese in the Territory.

The half-caste population recorded at the census of 1933 numbered 8co of whom
743 were half-caste Australian aboriginals.

(iii) T'otal Population. The highest recorded population of all races, except
aboriginals, was 7,533 in 1888. The estimated population at 318t December in each
of the last five years is given in the following table :—

NORTHERN TERRITORY : POPULATION (EXCLUSIVE OF ABORIGINALS).

Year. Males. i Females. Total.
T

1935 .. ce ] 3.%2 ' 1,609 5,001

1936 . .. 3590 | 1,799 5:305

1937 .- . 3,641 | 1,713 5,354

1938 .. .. 3,825 I 1,820 5,645

1939 .. .. 4,903 ‘ 2,070 6,973

The Census population (3oth June, 1933) was 3,378 males, 1,472 females, total
4,850
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(iv) Movement of Populafion. The following is a summary of the movement of
population in 1939 (excluding overland migration) :—

NORTHERN TERRITORY : MOVEMENT OF POPULATION, 1939.

Immigration .. | 4,190 || Emigration .. |2,012 || Excess of immi-
Births .. .. 138 || Deaths .. .. 88 gration over
emigration .. 1,278
Excess of births
over deaths .. 50
Increase .. 14,328 Decrease .. {3,000 Net Increase .. |1,328

The immigration and emigration figures for the Territory during the five years
ending 1939 are shown in the following table :—

NORTHERN TERRITORY: IMMIGRATION AND EMIGRATION.

Year. Immigration. Emigration.
1935 .. .. .. .. 1,014 881
1936 .. .. .. .. 1,429 1,268
1937 .. .. . .. 1,733 1,720
1938 .. .. .. .. 2,601 - 2,343
1939 .. .. .. . 4,190 2,912

(v) The Aboriginals. A special article contributed by Dr. W. Ramsay-Smith on
the subject of the Australian aboriginals was incorporated in Official Year Book No. 3
(pp. 158). The Chapter * Population,” in Official Year Book No. 17, contained
information regarding the number and distribution of aboriginals and. the measures
taken by the States (in the case of the Northern Territory, by the Commonwealth) to
protect them and to conserve their interests. ILarge numbers of the aboriginals in the
Territory are still outside the influence of Europeans. The total number of full-blood
and half-caste aboriginals at 3oth June, 1939, was estimated at 15,002, of whom 3,445
were in regular employment. There are fifteen “ aboriginal » reserves, comprising an
area of 67,244 square miles. (See also Chapter XX. ¢ Population” hereinafter.)

§ 2. Legislation and Administration.

On 1st. January, 1911, the Territory was transferred by South Australia to the
Commonwealth. The terms are ontlined in Official Year Book No. 15, p. 940. By
the Northern Australia Act 1926, the Territory was divided into two parts, Central
Australia and North Australia, separated by the 20th parallel of south latitude, each
administered by a Government Resident. In addition, Advisory Councils and a
Development Commission were provided for. The Act of 1926 was repealed by the
Northern Territory (Administration) Act 1931. The administration of the Territory
was placed in the hands of an Administrator, residing at Darwin, assisted by a Deputy
Administrator, residing at Stuart (Alice Springs). The designation of the latter office
was later changed to that of District Officer. The Governor-General is empowered to
make ordinances having the force of law in and in relation to the Territory, subject to
disallowance by either House of the Commonwealth Parliament. The Territory elects
& member to the House of Representatives, who may take part in the debates, but may
not vote, except on a motion for the disallowance of any ordinance of the Northern
Territory or on any amendment of any such motion.
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§ 3. Physiography.

1. Tropical Nature of the Country.—The Territory is within the torrid zone,
with the exception of a sirip 2} degrees wide which lies south of the Tropic of
Capricorn.

2. Contour and Physical Characteristics,.—The low flat’ coast-line seldom reaches
a height of roo feet. Sandy beaches and mud flats, thickly fringed with mangroves,
prevail. Sandstone, marl and ironstone form the occasional cliffy headlands. The sea
frontage of more than 1,000 miles is indented by bays and inlets and intersected by
numerous rivers, many of which are navigable for considerable distances from their
estuaries.

The principal features of the coast line are enumerated in Official Year Book No. 1,
P- 66; the rivers in No. 2, p. 76; the mountains in No. 3, p. 67 ; the lakes in No. 4, pp. 77,
78 ; the islands in No. 5, pp. 71, 72 ; and the mineral springs in No. 6, p. 65.

Inland, the country generally is destitute of conspicuous landmarks. From the
coast there is a general rise southwards to the vicinity of the 17th or 18th parallel of
south latitude, where the higher lands form the watershed between the rivers that flow
northwards to the sea and those that form the scanty supply of the interior systems.
Towards the centre of the continent the land over a wide area is of considerable elevation,
and there are several mountain ranges, generally with an east and west trend.

§ 4. Climate, Fauna and Flora.

1. The Seasons.~—There are two main climatic divisions—the wet season, November
to April, and the dry season, May to October, with uniform and regular changes of
weather. Nearly the whole of the rainfall occurs in the summer months. Fuller
particulars will be found in Official Year Book No. 6, p. 1116.

2. Fauna.—The ordinary types of native Australian fauna inhabit the Territory.
As elsewhere on the continent, the higher Theria are rare, but marsupials, birds,
crooodiles, fresh-water tortoises, snakes (mostly non-venomous), and frogs abound.
There are many varieties of freshwater fish and littoral mollusca. Butterflies and beetles:
are strongly represented. The white ant is a pest, anthills in the Territory sometimes
attaining great dimensions. Mosquitoes and sandflies are very troublesome, particularly
in the wet season. Native fauna are in some cases protected. Buffalo formerly existed
in large herds, but, as pointed out later, their number has been greatly reduced by
indisoriminate shooting.

3. Flora.—The vegetation is North Australian iun type, but a number of the forms
belong to the Malayan and Oceanic regions. The timber trees are not of great commercial
value, but in the coastal regions tropical vegetation grows luxuriantly to the water’s
edge. On the wide expanses of plain country in the interior there is little vegetation,
the principal orders represented being :—FEuphorbiaceae, Compositae, Convolvulaceae,
Rubiaceae, Goodenoviaceae, Leguminosae, Urticaceae.

Fuller- particulars regarding fauna and flora are given in Official Year Book No. 6,
pp. 1116-7.

§ 5. Production.

1. Area.—A¢ the 30th June, 1939, there were 213,809 square miles held under lease,
licence and permit in the Northern Territory, comprising 162,793 square miles of pastoral
leases, 696 square miles of pastoral’ permits, 47,150 square miles' of grazing licences, 262
square miles of agricultural leases and 2,998 square miles of miscellaneous leases.

2. Agriculture.—Up to the present agriculture has made little progress in the
Territory, although: it. has been. proved. that: rice, tobacco, coconuts, mangoes, hananaa,
cotton, various fodder plants, and peanuts. can be successfully grown. Expense of
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harvesting is, at present, en obstacle to the economic prodvction of rice, and until
labour-saving machinery is procured it cannot be produced with profit. There.is a large
stretch of first-class coconut land on the coast, but hitherto planting has not been
attempted on a commercial scale. For the encouragement of primary production a
Primery Producers’ Board was established in 1931. Peanuts have hecome the principal
crop. In 1937-38 the yield was 495,040 lb. from 1,500 acres. The estimated crop for
1938-39 was 486,080 Ib. An area of 1,040 acres was planted, but about 1oo acres were
not dug. Market conditions are most unsatisfactory, as the sonthern markets prefer
red-shelled nuts to the white-shelled variety grown in the Territory.

3. Pastoral Industry.——The pastoral possibilities of certain parts of the Northérn
Territory ‘were recognized at an early date, and in 1866 stock was brought into -the
Macdonnell Range country from South Australia. Six years later cattle were moved
from ‘Queensland -to the northern parts -of the Territory, and in 1879 Mr. Giles reached
‘the Katherine River ‘with 2,000 head of cattle and 12,000 sheep from South Australia.
“For various reasons sheep-raising did not succeed. The cattle industry progressed and
‘became the mainstay of the Territory, a great imrpetus being given to it in 1917 by ‘the
opening of extensive 'meat works at Darwin. Unfortunately ‘the works closed down ‘in
1920, and are still idle. The number of catile exported by land from the Northern
Territory during the year 1938-39 was about 78,200, and the number imported about
430. A favorable season was experienced in the southern portion of the Territory and
over 12 inches of rain were recorded in the six months ending June, 1939. Good prices
at the opening of the 1939 trucking season caused a rush of fat cattle to the Adelaide
market, and consignments were generally of excellent quality. An increasing interest
in sheep-raising is being maintained, and the wool clip realized £6,500. Buffaloes thrive
in the coastal districts, but their number has been greatly reduced by indiscriminate
shooting to obtain the hides.

The estimated number of live stock in the Territory in the last five years is given
in the table hereunder :—

NORTHERN TERRITORY : LIVE STOCK.

Year. | Horses. , Cattle. I Sheep. Pigs. Goats. | Camels, | Donkeys. | Mules

|
1934 .- 135094 | 899,679 | 23,356 626 | 20,044 319| 1,196 496
1935 we | 35152 | 900,535 | 25,483 555 | 20,455 :| 208 1,056 512
1936 «e | 31,056 | 855,308 | 11,162 470 | 17,306 310 1,503 530
1937 .. { 31,662 | 891,640 | 26,856 388 | 17,804 3II 1,301 404
1938 .+ | 33,101 | 899,472 | 29;901 355 | 19,427 162 | 1,323 443

4. Mining.—(i) General. Alluvial gold-digging in the Northern Territory
commenced in 1869, .and up to the end .of 1880 gold to the value of £79,022 had been
produced. In 1881 the gold production reached its maximum, the value for that year
being £111,045. During tho following years it fluctuated considerably, but as long -as
the alluvial deposits lasted the output was satisfactory. In the transition period from
alluvial to reef mining the industry declined considerably. The production of metals
other than -gold has suffered -on account -of the vagaries of prices, and the high cost of
transport and of white labour. Owing to the exceptionally high price of gold the search
for the precious metal has been stimulated in recent years with an increasing annual
production. The principal producer of gold is the Tennant Creek field which gives every
indication of increasing production for a number of years to come. Although the mica
deposits in the Territory are not exploited systematically or on a large scale, a.number
of men have been engaged in this class of mining and during the year produced nearly
£20,000 worth of mica. Wolfram prices declined during the year and the value of the
output was less than that of last year.



246 CurapTER XI.—THE TERRITORIES OF THE COMMONWEALTH.

(ii) Mineral Production. The following table shows the value of the total mineral
production for the last five years:—

NORTHERN TERRITORY : MINERAL PRODUCTION.

Total
Year. Gold. | TinOre, | Sver- | Coprer | nea, | wWoltram. Tantallte. Value al

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ | £
1934-35 .. | 44,458 i 6,036 T 15,762 | 10,380 264 , 76,900
1935-36 .. | 76,001 | 4,176 .o 1,871 7,805 8,748 . 98,601
1936-37 .. | 91,543 | 7,606 .. 101 | 11,003 | 16,349 226 126,918
1937 .. | 100,462 7,205 328 55 | 12,524 | 84,832 445 205,851
1938 .. | 109,168 3,205 .. 4,362 | 19,712 | 78,277 .. i 214,724

The value of all minerals produced to the end of 1938 was approximately £4,209,000.

In 1934 the Governments of the Commonwealth and the States of Queensland and
Western Australia agreed to co-operate in the conduct of a geological and geophysical
survey of certain areas in the northern parts of Australia, including the Northern Territory.
More detailed reference to the survey and its progress will be found in Chapter XII.
** Mineral Industry .

5. Pearl, Béche—de-Mer, and Other Fisheries.—In 1884 mother-of-pearl-shell was
discovered in the harbour of Port Darwin. Difficulty in working, principally through
heavy tides and muddy water, retarded the development of the industry for many years.
The production of pearl-shell in 1938-39 amounted to 4Io0 tons of an approximate gross
value of £31,500, which represents a decrease of £35,500 on the value for the previous
year. Most of the yield was obtained from beds north of King and Liverpool Rivers,
and 13 pearling vessels were licensed. The local pearlers, however, encounter considerable
opposition from efficient Japanese fleets.

Three fishing licences and two boat licences were issued during 1938-39 in connexion
with béche-de-mer fisheries. Prices were not remunerative, however, and the production
was valued at only £252.

The increase in population at Darwin created a firm local demand for fish and, in
consequence, the number of persons engaged in the industry increased also. Fourteen
half-yearly fishing licences were issued as against five in 1937-38. The price of this
commodity averaged between 6d. to 8d. per Ib., according to season.

The production of raw salt from the tidal salt pans at Fannie Bay during 1938-39
was 280 tons, valued at £5 128. per ton. The salt is comparatively free of foreign matter,
an analysis revealing an actual sodium chloride content of 98.05 per cent.

§ 6. Land Tenure.

A description of the system of land tenure in force in the Territory will be found
in Chapter V. “Land Tenure and Settlement”, Official Year Book No. 22.

§ 7. Commerce, Shipping and Air Services.
1. Trade.—No record is kept of the trade between the Commonwealth States and
Territories. The value of the direct oversea imports and exports for 1901 and for each
of the last five years is given hereunder :—

NORTHERN TERRITORY : OVERSEA IMPORTS AND EXPORTS,

|
Items. 1901, i 1935-36. | 1936-37. @ 1937-38. , 1938-39. | 1ig35-4c.
— _ ! | i
£ £ £ £ ! £ ' £
Imports {(a) .+ | 37,539 | 13,221 58,120 | 44,703 ' 29,406 | 61,601
Exports (b) .. | 29,1091 42,330 26,645 | 6,053 | 12,729 l 12,814
| |

(a) British currency values. (b) Australian currency values.



Tae NoRTHERN TERRITORY. 247

The oversea imports into the Northern Territory consist largely of petrolenm spirit,
residual oil and machinery.

2. Shipping.—The Territory is dependent for its shipping facilities chiefly on the
services of vessels trading between Melbourne and Singapore. In addition to pearlers
and other small craft, larger vessels make occasional visits, while a sixty-days’ service
between Fremantle and Darwin is carried out by the Koolinda, belonging to the Western
Australian State Shipping Service.

NORTHERN TERRITORY : SHIPPING.

Arrivals, "Departures.
Period.

No. of Vessels. Tonnage. No. of Vessels, Tonnage.
1934-35 . .. .. 58 108,306 47 108,909
1935-36 .. e .- 55 117,757 55 117,757
1936-37 .. .. .. 100 125,340 104 122,505
1937-38 .. .. .. 99 122,960 101 122,961
1938-30 .. .. .. 161 181,961 172 179,422

The foregoing figures are exclusive of particulars of coastwise shipping. During
1938-39 fourteen vessels of 285 tons net were entered at Darwin as coastwise.

3. Air Services.—Darwin is the first port of arrival in Australia of aircraft from
Europe. Singapore and Netherlands East Indies. The air services affecting Darwin at
30th June, 1940 were as follows :-——Qantas Empire Airways Ltd., under contract to the
Commonwealth Government, operates the Sydney-Darwin-Singapore section of the
Empire Flying Boat Service with a regular weekly service in each direction. The
MacRobértson-Miller Aviation Co. Ltd. operates twice weekly in each direction between
Perth and Darwin, linking up with the Qantas service at the latter point. Guinea
Airways Ltd. operates a twice weekly service in each direction between Adelaide and
Darwin, and the K.N.LL.M. Company extended their Amsterdam—Batavia air route to
Sydney via Darwin in 1938, with a weekly service in each direction as at 3oth June, 1940.
On the average six machines arrive at and depart from Darwin during each week.

§ 8. Internal Communication.

1. Railways.—Under the agreement made between the Commonwealth and the
State of South Australia for the surrender and acceptance of the Northern Territory,
which was ratified by the Northern Territory Acceptance Act 1910, the Commonwealth
is to construct the Northern Territory portion of the transcontinental railway line
(connecting Adelaide and Darwin, via Port Augusta).

The Northern line from Adelaide terminated at Oodnadatta, about 100 miles south
of the southern boundary of the Territory, but has been extended to Alice Springs, an
addition of 292 miles. The line from Darwin to Katherine River, about 200 miles, has
been extended as far as Birdum, 316 miles from Darwin. The completion of the remainder
of the gap would give access to broad belts of pastoral and mineral country towards
the centre of Australia. The Commonwealth Government acquired on 1st January,
1911, the property in the line from Port Augusta to Oodnadatta (478 miles), and on 1s¢
January, 1926, the controi thereof was transferred to the Commonwealth Railways
Commissioner. '

2. Posts.—Postal communication is maintained by vessels belonging to Burns,
Philp and Co., Ltd., which carry on a monthly service between the Territory and the
Fastern States. In addition, the vessels belonging to the State Steamship Service of
Western Anstralia give a service once every 60 days between Fremantle and Darwin.
Mail is carried between Sydney and Darwin by the Qantas Empire Airways Ltd., and
between Perth and Darwin by the MacRokertson-Miller Aviation Co. T.td. Tnland, the
northern part of the Territory receives its mail via Darwin or by means of the aerial
services, while the sonthern districts are served via Adelaide.
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3. Telegraphs.—The transcontinental telegraph line, covering a length of 2,230
miles, was completed on the 22nd August, 1872, at a cost of nearly £500,000. The line
runs in & northerly direction from Adelaide to Darwin, whence telegraphic communication
is provided with Asia and Europe, via Banjoewangie (Java), Singapore and Madras.
Between Darwin and Banjoewangie the submarine cable is duplicated.

High-power wireless stations have been constructed by the Commonwealth
Government at Wave Hill in the Territory, and at Camooweal, just over the eastern
boundary, in Queensland.

§ 9. Finance.

In the Commonwealth finance statements separate accounts are given for Northern
Territory administration. Revenue and expenditure for 1938-39 are given below :—

NORTHERN TERRITORY REVENUE AND EXPENDITURE, 1938-39.

REVENUE. £ EXPENDITURE. : £
Taxation— Northern Terntory Adminis-
Customs and excise .. 7,916 tration. 280,243
Sales tax . e 757 | Other departments .. 29,712
Land and income tax e 9,306 | New works . .. 243,980
Probate and stamp duties 1,486 | Repairs, mamtenance &e. .. | 21,189
Postal, telegraph, and tele- | Railways— i
phone .. .. o 21,352 Working expenses .. 269,560
Railways— New works .. .. 29,204
North Australia .. .. 50,471 Interest .. 274,537
Central Australia. . .. 137,521 Sinking fund .. 51,966
Territorial. . .. .. ' 27,004 | Post, telegraph and telephone 25,423
Mmcellaneous . .. 36,738 | Interest .. ! 66,757
Deficiency on year s trans- Sinking fund . .. 14,044
actions .. .. ... ' 1,032,304 | Unemployment relief .. 5,890
' Miscellaneous .. .. 13,340
I.;_..__ [—
Total .. .. , 1,325,845 Total .. .. 1 1,325,845

AUSTRALIAN CAPITAL TERRITORY.

1. Introductory—In Official Year Books Nos. 4 and 5, information wag given in
Section XXX1.. in regard to the events leading to the selection of the Australian Capital
Territory and the necessary legislation and the progress of operations in connexion with
‘the establishment of the capital city. The physiography of the Territory was dealt with
extensively and topographical and contour maps accompanied the letterpress, as well
a8 reproductions of the premiated designs for the laying out of the city. Considerations
‘of space, however, preclude the repetition of this information. On the 12th March,
1913, the official ceremony to mark the initiation of operations in connexion with the
establishment of the Seat of Government was carried out. At this ceremony the
selection of *“ Canberra " as the name of the capital city was announced. The Seat of
Government Acceptance Act 1938 provides that the Territory shall be known as the
Australian Capital Territory. (A special article contributed by Dr. F. Watson, entitled
“Cankerra Past and Present ”, appears on p. 454 of Official Year Book No. 24.)

2. Transfer of Parliament.—On oth May, 1927, Parliament House at Canberra
was officially opened by His Royal Highness Albert, Duke of York, the occasion being
the 26th anniversary of the opening of the first Parliament of the Commonwealth at
Melbourne by His Royal Highness George, Duke of Cornwall and York—afterwards
His Majesty King George V.—on the gth May, 1901. (For particulars of the opening
ceremony see Official Year Book No. 21, p. 604.)
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3. Administration.—In Official Year Book No. 18, a summary is given of the
development of the administration prior to the taking over of the control of the Territory
by the Federal Capital Commission, and in Official Year Book No. 22, a summary is
given of the administrative activities of the Federal Capital Commission.

The administration of the Territory by the Federal Capital Commission was continued
until the 3oth April, 1930, when the Seat of Government (Administration) Act 1924-1929
was repealed, and the powers and functions of the Commission reverted to the Government.
The new Administration provided for the general ccntrol of the Ferritory by the Minister
for Home Affairs, with the assistance of the Department of Public Health in health
matters, the Department of Works in the operation of the engineering services and in
the. construction of works, and the Attorney-General's Department in the administration
of the Courts, Police and Probate, and the Registration of Titles.

An Advisory Council to advise the Minister on matters of local concern was established
on the st May, 1930, by Ordinance under the Act, and a Civic Administrator was
appointed under the Ordinance as Chairman of the Advisory Council and to carry on
the general administration of the Territory under the Minister and subject to. the specific
services being undertaken by the other Commonwealth Departments mentioned.

The Advisory Council consisted of the Secretary, Department of Home Afiairs;
the, Director-General of Health; the Secretary, Department of Works; the Civic
Administrator ; and three residents elected for two years under a. system of adult
franchise.

On the 12th April, 1932, the Departments of Home Affairs and Works were abolished
and the Department. of the Interior was established in lieu thereof. The office of Civic
Administrator was. abolished, and the constitution of the Advisory Council was. altered:
to provide that the nominated members of the Council should consist of the Director-
General of Health, and three officers of the Department of the Interior, namely, the
Assistant. Secretary (Works and Services), the Surveyor-General and Chief Property
Officer, and the Assistant Secretary (Civic Administration). Subsequently the.
Constitution of the Council was altered to provide for the replacement of the Director-
General of Health by an Officer nominated by the Minister for Health, and for the altered
designation of the Assistant. Secretary (Works and Services), to that of Assistant:
Secretary (Canberra Services). -

Under the new administration, the. general control of the Territory is exercised by
the Minister for the Interior, but the specific services undertaken by the Department of
Health and the Attorney-General’'s Department are being continued by those
Departments.

4. Progress of Work.—The generai progress of the work of construction up to the
time the Territory was taken over by the Commission is outlined in Official Year Book
No. 18. TLater progress made under the Commission is deseribed in Official Year
Book No. 22.

Structures completed after the commencement of the Departmental form of
administration comprised the Australian Institute of Anatomy with laboratories and:
accommodation for the museum of Australian fauna; laboratories of the divisions of
Economic Entomology and Plant Industry of the Council for Scientific and' Industrial
Research ; and a public swimming' pool equipped with a modern filtration chlorination
plant. :

During the year 1939-40 the following buildings were completed :—299. residences,
alterations and additions to Government House, a new High School at Acton, Technical

" Buildings and residences for personnel at the Naval Transmitting and Receiving Stations,
and a Drill Hall. The following architectural works were in progress :—Canberra Royal
Australian Air Force Station, various buildings at No. 2 Empire Air Training Depot,
additions. to complete the National War Memorial, Transport Building extensions at.
Kingston, Barton Hostel, and 129 residences.

The following engineering works were commenced or completed :—Tennis courts
were constructed at the Royal Military College, and practically all internal roads at the
College: were surfaced with bitumen. Water Supply, sewerage and stormwater drainage
gervices were provided for the Harman and Belconnen Naval Radio Stations and for the
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Canberra Royal Australian Air Force Station, where also a large amount of work was
done on grading of pavement areas around hangars. The concrete floors of the hangars
were commenced and a start was made on the road system for the station, including an
approach road. The roads surrounding Acton High School were constructed, and the
sports fields at the school, including a football ground, hockey ground, three basket ball
courts and five tennis courts, were graded, as was the whole of the landing field surface
at the Canberra Aerodrome. Construction of sub-divisions was carried out at Sections
35, 74 and 21 Ainslie, the whole of the southern half of Turner between University-avenue
and Haig Park, Sections 33 to 39 and 45 to 48 Griffith, Sections o to 11, 33, 35 and 40
to 44 Forrest, Sections 4 to 8 Deakin, and Section 20 Kingston ; these areas were provided
with water supply, sewerage and stormwater drainage services, and roads, streets, foot-
paths and kerbing were either constructed or commenced.

Other city works were some thousands of feet of kerbing and a large amount of
bituminous surfacing of existing streets, a large stormwater drain between the War
Memorial and Reid, roads, streets and services at the Fire Station block, extensive
improvements to the water supply for the Golf Links, a new water supply ring connecting
the northern suburbs with Black Mountain Reservoir, the piping of a section of the creek
through Manuka, a new main sewer to serve the north-western suburbs, a new service
reservoir at Red Hill and a new 30-in. main between Mount Stromlo and Red Hill, and
the duplication of the Canberra sewerage works. Further works in connexion with
services include a water supply to the Oaks Estate and the provision of improved roads
within that subdivision, an improved water supply to the Cotter River recreation area
and gauging weirs on the upper Cotter and upper Condor Rivers, & new pump for the
Cotter Pumping Station and the necessary enlargement of the station buildings, and
about 10 miles of water main were cement lined in sifu.

Improvements to country roads were carried on generally throughout the Territory.
The worst section of the Cooma Road was brought up to highway standard and an
additional 2 miles surfaced with bitumen, the Cotter Road was further straightened and
improved and about 3 miles were surfaced with bitumen, several difficult turns were
eliminated from the Brindabella Road, the Mount Franklin Road was extended to the
Chalet, and a bituminous road was provided to the summit of Red Hill and to the aero-
drome. New bridges were erected over the Gudgenby River at Naas and on Majura
Lane, while new concrete piers were provided for the Burbong Bridge as a first stage in
its reconstruction.

Electrical works carried out comprise the following :—Extension of high tension
mains to Turner, North Ainslie, Griffith, Oaks Estate, Kingston, and the Royal Aus-
tralian Air Force Station, and completion of ring mains—Acton to City and Fyshwick to
Molongo farms ; extension of low tension reticulation to Turner, North Ainslie, Braddon,
Reid, Oaks Estate, Kingston, Griffith and Forrest. Two additional sub-stations were
installed at the Royal Australian Air Force Station, Griffith and Turner, and one each at
the Patents Office, Oaks Estate, North Ainslie, Kingston, Reid and control station,
Kingston. Electrical installations were carried out to the Canberra Technical College,
Royal Australian Air Force Station, cottages, public offices and training camps, and
extensions were made to street lighting,

Mechanical engineering services included the following :—Petrol and oil supply at
hangars and emergency sites, kitchen equipment and hot water supply at Mess buildings
and Ablution block serving hutments, and installation of sewerage pump at the Royal
Australian Air Force Aerodrome. Installation of mechanical services were commenced
at the No. 2 Training Camp, Kingston. Installations of heating and or hot water services
were completed at the War Memorial, Hotel Canberra, Government House, the new
section at Acton Offices and the Insectary at the Council for Scientific and Industrial
Research Institute. Other installations in hand were a semi air conditioning plant lift
and other mechanical services at the Patents Office, a new coal room and refrigerating
plant at Brassey House, a ventilating fan in the kitchen at the Hotel Aiuslie, an incinerator
with sawdust extraction plant at the stores yard, a new pumping plant at the Cotter
pumping plant, and standby Diesel driven generating sets with auxiliary equipment at
the Royal Australian Naval Wireless Station, Belconnen.
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Private building was again active during the year. The most important works
consisted of the erection of several blocks of residential flats and extensive alterations
and additions to Hotel buildings. The building of the first portion of a new Anglican
Church was completed. Progress in cottage construction by private individuals was
maintained.

5. Forestry.—A considerable amount of reafforestation work has been undertaken,
and plantations have been established at Uriarra, Mount Stromlo, Pierce’s Creek and
Kowen. Experimental plots have also been established in the Brindabella mountains
and sylvicultural work is being carried out at Black Mountain.

The total area of plantations to 3oth June, 1939, was 11,000 acres. Forestry
operations were begun on Mount Stromlo in 1915, and up to 1925 approximately 700
acres had been planted with pine and other trees. The plantings up to this time were
chiefly on aesthetic lines, but since the initiation of the wider programme, arrangements
have been made for pruning and thinning, and sawmill timber is now being obtained
from the logs resulting from thinning operations. The output of sawmill logs from
thinnings is gradually improving and has increased from 21,762 super. feet in 1930-31
to 500,000 super. feet in 1938-39.

In 1926 a comprehensive review was undertaken of the Territory’s potentialities
in regard to forest development. A system of forestry management was instituted in’
the existing forest areas, and a considerable amount of survey and assessment work has
been completed. In the initial stages pinus radiata was most extensively planted,
but, as a result of experimental work, plots of better quality pines on a longer rotation,
such as pinus ponderosa and laricio, were planted during recent years.

6. Lands.—(i) In the Australian Capital Territory. Reference has been made in
previous issues of the Official Year Book to the general conditions of land tenure in the
Australian Capital Territory and to the area of alienated and leased land.

As considerable portions of the Territory lands are not required in connexion with
the establishment of the city, large areas have been leased under special improvement
conditions in regard to the extermination of noxious weeds and the destruction of rabbits
and other pests. The lands are classified into three grades of agricultural and three
grades of grazing land. About 319.469 acres comprising 440 leases are at present held
under lease for periods varying from quarterly tenure to 25 years.

Auction sales of city leaseholds are described in Official Year Book No. 22, p. 599.

Five leases under the Church Lands Leases Ordinance 1924-1932, which requires
the lessees to submit a definite building programme within a specified period, and one
lease under the Church of England Lands Ordinance 1926 have been granted for church
purposes. A further six leases under the Leases (Special Purposes) Ordinance 1925-1936
and two leases under the Leases Ordinance 1918-1937 have been granted for church and
scholastic purposes.

The total number of leases granted under the City Area Leases Ordinance, not
including svrrendered leases, at the end of the financial year 1938-39 was 439,
representing a capital value of £209,763. During the year 66 new leases were granted.
The number of business and residential blocks surrendered to or determined by the
Commonwealth to the end of the year was 263.

Under the terms of the City Area Leases Ordinance 1936-1938 each block is leased
for a period of g9 years at a rental of £5 per cent. per annum of the unimproved capital
value as assessed by the Commonwealth or bid at auction. In conformity with the
general reduction of interest in consequence of the financial crisis rentals under this
Ordinance have been reduced to 4 per cent. of the unimproved capital value until
3oth June, 1941.

(ii) In the Jervis Bay Territory. The Commonwealth has acquired from the State of
New South Wales sovereign rights over the area comprising about 28 square miles of land
and water at Jervis Bay for possible use as a port in connexion with the Australian
Capital. The Royal Australian Naval College was established in this area on a site
known as Captain’s Point, but was removed in 1930 to Flinders Naval Base, Victoris.
Leases have been granted over an area of approximately 12,812 acres in the Jervis Bay
Territory.
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A scheme for the use by tourists of the residences and other buildings at Jervis Bay
has been put into operation, and it has proved a considerable attraction, affording &
seaside resort for residents of the Territory as well as for visitors from other places.

7- Railways.—Canberra is connected with the railway system of New South Wales
by a line 4} miles long to Queanbeyan. This line was opened for goods traffic on the
25th May, 1914, and for passenger traffic on the 15th October, 1923. The railway
terminus is situated in the area known as Kingston.

A direct passenger service is in operation connecting Canberra with Sydney and
Melbourne, and trains leave both cities for Canberra daily. Improved facilities for
goods traffic have also been provided.

A trial survey of a line between Canberra and Jervis Bay has been made, and plans
prepared to enable an estimate of the cost of the line to be obtained, but no action in
regard to this project is contemplated at present.

Under the provisions of the Seat of Government Surrender Act 1909 of New South
Wales and the Seat of Government (Acceptance) Act 1909 of the Commonwealth an
agreement exists between the Commonwealth and the State of New South Wales in
relaticn to the construction of a railway from Canherra to Yass—a distance of
approximately 43 miles, of which about 32 miles extend through New South Wales.
The State is required to construct its portion of the line as soon as the Commonwealth
builds a line to the boundary of the Territory.

8. Population.—The census return of population on the 3oth June, 1938, was
11,290 in the Australian Capital Territory and 272 in the Jervis Bay Territory, or a total
of 11,562 persons. The estimated population at 30th June, 1940, was 12,755.

9. Live Stock.—The number of live stock depastured at 31st March, 1939, were :—
Horses, 1,195, cattle, 7,057, and sheep, 245,540.

10. Educational Facilities.—Arrangements have been made with the New South
Wales Education Department to continue for the time being the administration of
education in the Territory, the expenditure involved being refunded annually to the
State. There are eleven schools in the Austraiian Capital Territory and two in the Jervis
Bay Territory. The largest primary school is situated at Telopea Park, Barton, with
accommodation for 600 scholars. Secondary education is provided at the Canberra High:
School, Acton. It has accommodation for 550 scholars, and its curriculum provides a
standard of education comparable in range of subjects with that provided at the best
of the Government High Schools in New South Wales, thus permitting scholars to
qualify for entrance to the Universities. The School also provides for Commercial and
Junior Technical Classes, and there is an Evening Continuation School attached with
Fvening Commercial and Matriculation Classes.

The Canberra Technical College at Kingston is provided with modern equipment
and machinery for supplementary courses for apprentices, journeymen desirous of
improving their trade qualifications, and: others desirous of taking any of the special
courses available

The supplementary trade courses include fitting and machining, motor mechanics,
carpentry and joinery, bricklaying, plastering, house painting and paperhanging, electrical
fitting and electrical mechanics, and plumbing and sheet metal work. Special courses
include autogenous welding, drainage, radio mechanics and telegraphy, show card writing,
signwriting, woolclassing, dressmaking, cookery and housecraft.

Provision has been made at the Canberra Technical College for the technical training
of aircraftsmen for the Royal Australian Air Force under the Commonwealth Training
Scheme, in batches of 200 in a course of sixtcen weeks duration. In addition provision
has bcen made for special evening classes to afford assistance to members of the forces
in passing technical trade tests.

Education facilities from kindergarten to secondary are provided free of cost and
comparatively low fees are charged for tuition at the Canberra Technical College and
Evening Continuation School.

A technical school has been established at the Canberra Technical College to prepare
youths who have completed two years super-primary school work for apprenticeship
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trades and semi-skilled occupations. The course of study includes Mathematics, English,
Civics, and workshop practice in carpentry, bricklaying, motor mechanics and plumbing
and sheet metal work.

There are at present four Pprivate schools in the Territory. The Canberra Grammar
School, the Canberra Church of England Girls’ Grammar School, and St. Christopher’s
Convent School provide for primary and secondary education, and St. Patrick’s School
provides primary and sub-primary education.

Reference to the establishment of the Canberra University College will be found
in ‘Chapter VI. ¢ Education .

11. Finance.—(i} Financial Year 1938-30. Receipts and Expenditure for the
financial year r938-39 are given in the table hereunder :—

AUSTRALIAN CAPITAL TERRITORY: RECEIPTS AND EXPENDITURE, 1938-39.

Recelpts. Expenditure.
Ttems. Amount. Ttems, Capital. | 230 | Other. | Total.
£ £ £ £ £
Rent and rates .. | 165,097 | Architectural services .. | 290,095 | 31,770 .. 321,865
Rlectricity 49,920 | Epgineering services .. | 151,407 | B4,882 .. 236,289
Motor registration nnd Lands, Forestry .. 12,461 e . 12,461
foes 15,073 | Loans for housing, net .. | 23,922 . . 23,922
Eoepital tax’ .. 10,748 | Sundry works and services . 10,512 | 42,320 .. 52,832
Hotels 26,403 | Education . . 37,518 | 37,518
Transport “and City Hospxtal—Workmg expenses .. .. 13,250 | 13,250
Bus Service . 107,338 | Interest and Sinking Fund . .. .. 291,664 | 201,664
-Bales of .goods, manu- Administrative .. .. .. 81,873 | 81,873
factured products Hotels—Working expenses .. ‘ .. 27,312 | 27,312
ete. 847,212 | Transport and City Bus Ser- i
Miscellaneous .. | 58,489 vice—Working expenses ... .. .. 111,766 | 113,766
Factory Stores, etc.—Working :
expenses .. R .. 847,519} 847,519
Mlscellaneous—l’ohce, Fire )
Brigade, etc. .. ) 55,059 { ‘55,059
|
Total Receipts .. 1,280,780 Total Expenditure .. I 488,397 ' 158,972 11,465,061|2,113,330

(ii) From 19012 to 30th June, 1939.—The total receipta and expenditure from
1901-2 to the 3oth June, 1939, were a8 follows :—

AUSTRALIAN CAPITAL TERRITORY: RECEIPTS AND EXPENDITURE TO 30th
JUNE, 1939.

Receipts. Expenditure.
1
Items, Amount. Ttems, Amount.
£ £
Commonwealth Treasury-— Lands . .. .. 906,639
Parliamentary Appropriations— Englneerlng works .. .. 4,260,496
Revenue ae . 5,265,698 || Architectural works 2,890,539
Loan .. .. . 5,826,051 || Other capital expendlture sundry
.debtors, etc. .. 979,127
v | 9,045,801
Seat of Government Establishment
. Account, being maintenance and
. administration less revenue; ex-
penditure of a capital nature for
which assets no longer exist; .
profit and loss accounts of trading
activities, ete. 2,045,943*
Total Recelpts .. .. | 11,091,749 Net Expenditure .. .. | 11,091,749

* Exclusive-of interest, £3,073,024 net.



254 CeAPTER XI.—THE TERRITORIES OF THE COMMONWEALTH.

The foregoing table was prepared by the Department of the Interior and does not
include part cost of National Buildings—Parliament House, the Secretariats, ete.,
£1,731,914, Federal Highways within the Territory, Queanbeyan-Canberra Railway and
Housing Loan, etc., £2,180,802, and Loans for Housing, £207,054.

NORFOLK ISLAND.

1. Area, Location, etc.—Norfolk Island, discovered by Captain Cook in 1774, is
situated in latitude 29° 3’ 45” South, longitude 167° 56’ 29” East. Its total area is 8,528
acres, the island being about 5 miles long and 3 miles wide. From Sydney it is distant
930 miles, and from Auckland, 620 miles. The length of the coast line is 20 miles. and
its form that of an irregular ellipse. Except on the south-wes:, inaccessible cliffs rise
from the water’s edge. The climate is equable, the temperatnre ranging between 49°
and 85°; with a mean of 68°. The average annual raintall is 52 inches. 1t has been said
that the salubrious climate. coupled with the beauty of its land and sea scapes, shovld
combine to render Norfolk Tsland ‘¢ the Madeira of the Pacific.” The island is visited
annuslly by a number of tourists, and with improved shipning facilities this traffic is
likely to increase. A tourist burean has been established on the Island.

2. Settlement.—The first colonization, in 1788, was by lLieutenant King, who in
H.M.S. Supply established a small penal station as a branch settlement of that at Port
Jackson. The settlement was abandoned in 1813, and for 13 years thereafter its chief
use was a& & whaling station and place of call for British warships.

From 1826 to 1855 it was again made a penal station. In 1844 it was annexed to
Van Diemen’s Land (Tasmania).

The descendants of the Bounty mutineers, having become too numerous to subsist
on Pitcairn Island, were removed thence to Norfolk Island in 1856. The new community
numbered 94 males and 100 females—and were the descendants of British sailors and
Tahitian women. Two of these were still alive at 3oth June, 1939.

3. Administration.—In 1856 the island was created a distinct and separate settlement
under the jurisdiction of New South Wales. Later in 1896 it was made a dependency
under the Governor of that Colony, and finally by the passage of the Norfolk Island Act
1913 it was accepted by the Federal Parliament as a territory of the Commonwealth.
From July, 1914 until 18t January, 1929, Norfolk Island was administered by the
Department of Home and Territories, but it is now administered by the Territories
Branch of the Prime Minister’s Department through an Administrator. An amending
measure, the Norfolk Island Aet 1935, provides for the establishment of an Advisory
Council of eight elected members to advise the Administrator on any matter affecting
the Island.

4. Population.——The population at the. 3oth June, 1939, was 983, consisting of
513 males and 470 females. In the year 1938-39, 17 births, 10 deaths, and 5 marriages
were recorded. The average age of the persons who died was 58 years. Departures
from the Island exceeded arrivals by 83, the respective figures being departures 335,
arrivals 252.

5. Live Stock.—The latest returns of live stock show that in May, 1938, there were
on the island 1,972 cattle, 679 horses, 235 sheep and 82 pigs. In addition, there were
4,873 head of poultry.

6. Production, Trade, etc.—The soil throughout is good and is specially suitable
for the cultivation of bananas, citrus and otber fruits. The Canadian Wonder bean
seed is one of the staple crops of the Island. Since the promulgation of the Ordinance
regulating the export of seed the area planted with bean seed has increased, but the
crop in 1938-39 was affected by dry weather conditions and the exports amounted to
only 568 bushels, compared with 923 bushels in 1937-38 and 1,453 bushels in 1936—37.

Apart from the bean, agriculture generally has been depressed, but the prospects
are now brighter. A modern pulping factory has been erected on the Island and 20,729
gallons of passion fruit pulp were exported during 1938-39. The pulping of cherry guavas
for jelly was also experimented with and 6,270 lb. were shipped to Sydney.



NorroLk Isranp. 255

The citrus trees on the island in full bearing are capable of producing over 3,000
cases of fruit, but owing to adverse weather conditions the crop will not exceed 600 cases
in 1038-39. A ready market is available in New Zealand, where the embargo on Norfolk
Island citrus fruits and bananas has been removed.

A demonstration farm was established in 1938 for the study of crop diseases and
suitable farming methods for the island.

Large numbers of whales pass the island throughout the season, but whaling has
not been conducted for a number of years. The industry was recently revived by the
formation of a whaling company. Three boats have been fitted out and manned by
full crews, and it is hoped that the venture may prove successful. The preserved fish
industry which was established some years ago has been abandoned, and the fish-freezing
factory has also ceased operations. Such fish as trevalla, kingfish, schnapper and many
others abound in the waters around the Island.

On the 30th June, 1939, the total area of land held under freehold and Crown
leasehold amounted to 6,767 acres, consisting of 4,520 acres freehold and 2,247 leasehold.

Imports and exports for the last five years are given hereunder; the values are
expressed in Australian currency :—

NORFOLK ISLAND : IMPORTS AND EXPORTS.

Country. l 1934~35. ' 1935-36. ’ 1936-37. 1937-38. 1938~39.
IMPORTS.

From— £ £ ! £ ! £ ! £
Australia 26,260 28,657 33,825 31,188 ' 27,427
New Zealand .. .. .. 2 119 ..
Pacific Islands .. 258 140 210 239 163

Total 26,518 28,797 34,037 31,546 27,590
ExPORTS.

To— ' £ £ £ £ £
Australia 8,170 8,283 ' 11,611 10,328 16,110
New Zealand .. 921 | .. 9II 623
Pacific Islands . . 148 203 i 268 268 237

Total .. .o 8,318 9,407 l 11,879 { 15,507 16,970

Duties of Customs are levied on the following goods imported into Norfolk Island
for home consumption :—

IMPORT DUTIES SCHEDULE.

Article. Unie. . Tpteof | Article, Uni. Rgg‘:y"f

s d. | 8. d.

Spirits .. .. tpr.gal. 30 o | Chicory Ib. | o 3
Ale, beer, porter and i " Petroleum, etc. gal. ! o 3
cider .. .. gal. ; 2 6 | Kerosene, etc. ' o 3
Wine, still— i i Residual oil, ete. " o 3
Australian - .. . ‘5 o | Oi,ned .. » o 3
Other .. .. ' 10 O Lubricating oils ' o 3
Wine, sparkling— - Sugar ewt. ' 3 o
Australian .. . 15 © Molasses, etc. - "2 o
Other .. .. ' 25 © Biscuits .. 1. - o 1
Tobacco, manufactured ] Candles .. .. w o1
or unmanufactured— ' - Confectionery . o 3

Australian leaf Ib. ' 2 o { Dried fruits—

Other leaf .. " 4 © Australian ” o 1
Cigars and cigarettes .. » . 6 o | Other .. " o 3
Tea .. » | 0 3 | Jams, jellies and pre-

Coffee ” "o 3 | serves .. . L, 01
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No duties are chargeable on goods imported into Australia from Norfolk
Island if the goods (a) are the produce or manufacture of Norfolk Island ; and (b) are
shipped direct to Australia ; and (c) are not goods which if manufactured or produced
in Australia would be subject to any duty of excise.

7. Communication.—The “all-red™ cable from Great Britain via Vancouver,
Fanning Island and Fiji, bifurcates at Norfolk Island, one line connecting with New
Zealand, the other with Brisbane.

An alternate 12 and 30 days’ shipping service to the Territory is maintained by the
vessels of Burns, Philp & Co. Ltd., Sydney, under the terms of the contract with the
Commonwealth Government for the maintenance of shipping services to the Pacific
Islands.

On one voyage the 8S. Morinda leaves Sydney, calls at Lord Howe Island and Norfolk
Island and then proceeds to the New Hebrides, returning to Sydney by the same route.
The same vessel then makes a short trip to Norfolk Island and returns to Sydney calling
at Lord Howe Island on both the outward and inward voyages.

The journey from Sydney to Norfolk Island occupies four days.

8. Social Condition.—Education is fres and compulsory up to the age of fifteen
years. The school conforms to the Australian standard of public education, ranging
from kindergarten to the intermediate certificate, with a two years’ super-primary courss
of instruction in cultural subjects and in agriculture, woodwork, metalwork, etc. The
headmaster and one assistant teacher are lent by the New South Wales Education
Department, but they are paid by the Norfolk Island Administration. The number
of scholars enrolled at 30th June, 1939, was 145.

The Court of Norfolk Island presided over by a Chief Magistrate is a court of record
with dual jurisdiction. Sitting in its Limited Jurisdiction the Court has power to
hear and determine actions of claims not exceeding £30 and to punish summarily all
crimes and offences involving a pecuniary penalty or a sentence of imprisonment not
exceeding six months. In its Full Jurisdiction the Court can hear and determine all
actions, punish all crimes and offences, grant probate and letters of administration, hear
and determine appeals from any conviction of the Court sitting in its Limited Jurisdiction,
and has authority in all other matters. An appeal lies to the High Court of Australia
from any judgment, order, decree or sentence of the Court sitting in its Full Jurisdiction.

9. Finances.—The whole of the Territorial revenue together with an annual grant
from the Commonwealth Government in aid of the administrative expenses is paid to the
aredit of the Norfolk Island Trust Fund Account, and all administrative and
developmental expenses are paid from that account. The operations for the year
1938-39 were as follows :(—

NORFOLK ISLAND TRUST FUND ACCOUNT, 1938-1939.

Items, ’ Receipts. ‘ Items. Expenditure.
! £ ! £
Balance carried forward Lo 6,834 | Salaries .. . .. 5,513
Commonwealth Grant— . + Purchase of hquor 1,832
‘Ordinary .. A 4,000 |' Assistance to passion fruit
Custorus duties .. .. 2,300 |  industry .. 687
Sale of liquor .. o 2,865 l Repairs and mamtena.nce .. T,41X
Miscellaneous .. .. 2,530 || Miscellaneous .. .. 4,122
' | Balance .. .. o 5,054
I —_—_—
Total .. .. ‘ 18,619 ‘ Total .. .. 18,619
; |







